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N. Bandula Karunarathna J. 

This is an appeal from the judgement of the High Court Judge of Monaragala dated 

24.04.2020. The appellant is the registered owner of the vehicle number WP KD 9832. The 

said vehicle was taken into custody on 21.11.2012 for the offence that the vehicle was used 

to possess and traffic cannabis by the accused and several others.  

Altogether 5 accused were indicted by the Monaragala High Court on the following charges, 

committed on 21.11.2012:  

1) Possession of cannabis (one charge against all 5 accused)  

2) Trafficking of cannabis (one charge against all 5 accused)  

All 5 accused pleaded to the charges on 27.11.2017 and each accused was sentenced as 

follows:  

(i) For the first charge; a fine of Rs. 25,000 with simple imprisonment for 6 months in 

default. 

 

(ii) For the second charge, 2 years’ rigorous imprisonment was suspended for 10 years.  

The case was concluded and no order was made regarding the impugned vehicle until an 

application was made on 22.05.2018 by the appellant to that effect. The vehicle inquiry 

commenced on 04.12.2018. 

The order was dated 24.04.2020 and delivered on 26.05.2020. This appeal is preferred against 

the said order.  The grounds of appeal are as follows;  

(i) No evidence to establish that the vehicle had been used for the commission of the 

offence.  

 

(ii) Confiscating the vehicle is bad in law when the appellant has given reasonable and 

acceptable explanations as to that he did not have any knowledge about this 

culpable act. 

 

(iii) The learned Provincial High Court Judge erred in law and fact to confiscate the 

vehicle when the claimant has presented acceptable evidence to prove that he has 

taken precautions to prevent the commission of the offence using the vehicle. 

 

(iv) The appellant has proved that he has taken necessary precautions to prevent the 

use of the vehicle for a crime on a balance of probability.  

 

(v) Confiscating the appellant's vehicle for an offence that was done without his 

knowledge and participation in violation of his human rights. 

 

(vi) The concept of a property right had been violated. 
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(vii) The right to equal protection, the equal benefit of the law and access to equal 

justice had been violated. 

The respondent says that there are 2 preliminary objections regarding this appeal;  

1. That the caption is deficient and thus is not in conformity with the law and the 

Supreme Court Rules. The petition of appeal carries no description in the caption 

regarding the applicable law and thus is deficient based on filing the said petition. 

Therefore, the petition of appeal is bad in law and should be dismissed in limine.  

 

2. Necessary parties have not been named and the petition is also deficient in that 

respect. Only the Attorney General has been named as a ‘respondent’; in that, the 

proper naming of the respondents should involve all concerned parties including 

the 5 accused who stood trial and pleaded to the indictment in the original case.  

 

It was argued that this is quite apparent when considering a proper petition as the one that 

was filed in A.H. Mithrasena Vs OIC Hettipola and Others CA/PHC/15/2016 decided on 

20.10.2020, in which case, quite correctly, the relevant accused was named as a respondent 

to the petition.  

Similarly, in this case, since the contention of the appellant is mainly against the 5th accused 

and the fact that the 5th accused did not use the said vehicle by the instructions and the wishes 

of the appellant, it is imperative that at least the 5th accused should have been named as a 

party to this instant appeal. The learned counsel for the respondent further says that without 

fulfilling these grounds: naming the proper and most essential respondents, it may be seen 

that the petition is once more deficient. This is especially so, since the Attorney General being 

the only named respondent, has no personal knowledge nor claim whatsoever regarding any 

of the averments concerning the use of the impugned vehicle by the 5th accused and any of 

the other accused during the incident concerning the indictment of the High Court and since 

the 5th accused and other accused have been left out of the evidentiary process at the trial in 

the High Court.  

Therefore, the learned counsel for the respondent submits that the two preliminary 

objections above concern matters that are of such a fundamental nature. In that, without 

considering the same, this Court cannot even take cognizance of this very application and 

thus for this very same reason, and only this reason, this matter should be dismissed in limine.   

Considering the 2 preliminary objections raised by the respondent, it is important to peruse 

the relevant sections in the Civil Procedure Code. 

Section 755 (3) reads as follows;  

“Every appellant shall within sixty days from the date of the judgment or decree 

appealed against present to the original court a petition of appeal setting out the 

circumstances out of which the appeal arises and the grounds of objection to the 

judgment or decree appealed against and containing the particulars required by 

section 758, which shall be signed by the appellant or his registered attorney. Such 

petition of appeal shall be exempt from stamp duty.” 
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Section 758 reads as follows; 

(1) The petition of appeal shall be a Form of distinctly written upon good and suitable 

paper, and shall contain the following particulars; 

(a) the name of the court in which the case is pending; 

(b) the names of the parties to the action; 

(c) the names of the appellant and the respondent; 

(d) the address to the Court of Appeal; 

(e) a plain and concise statement of the grounds of objection to the judgment, 

decree, or order appealed against-such statement to be outlined in duly 

numbered paragraphs;  

(f) a demand of the form of relief claimed. 

 

(2) The court in deciding any appeal shall not be confined to the grounds set forth by 

the appellant, but it shall not rest its decision on any ground not set forth by the 

appellant unless the respondent has had sufficient opportunity of being heard on 

that ground. 

Section 759 reads as follows; 

(1) 759. (1) If the petition of appeal is not drawn up in the manner in the last preceding 

section prescribed, it may be rejected, or be returned to the appellant for the 

purpose of being amended, within a time to be fixed by the court; or be amended 

then and there. When the court rejects under this section any petition of appeal, 

it shall record the reasons for such rejection. And when any petition of appeal is 

amended under this section, the Judge, or such officer as he shall appoint in that 

behalf, shall attest the amendment by his signature. 

(2) In the case of any mistake, omission or defect on the part of any appellant in 

complying with the provisions of the foregoing sections, the Court of Appeal may, 

if it should be of opinion that the respondent has not been materially prejudiced, 

grant relief on such terms as it may deem just. 

It is my view that the caption is deficient and the necessary parties that have not been named 

could be considered as technical errors. Those deficiencies are directly connected to section 

759 (2) of the Civil Procedure Code.  The opinion of this court is that the respondent has not 

been materially prejudiced by those deficiencies. Thus, this court can grant relief ignoring the 

technical errors. The appeal should be decided on merit.  

It is important to note that the words of Chief Justice Abrahams in the case of Velupillai v. 

Chairman, Urban District Council 39 N.L.R 464, where His Lordship referring to a procedural 

defect said; 

"I think that if we do not allow the amendment, in this case, we should be doing a very 

grave injustice to the plaintiff. It would appear as if the shortcomings of his legal 

adviser, the peculiarities of law and procedure and the congestion in the Courts have 

all combined to deprive him of his cause of action …” In the case before us the accused-

appellant did not have the benefit of a legal adviser. Chief  Justice Abrahams went on 
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to emphasize, that “this [the Supreme Court] is a court of justice, it is not an Academy 

of Law.” 

It is important to note that the decisions in Fernando v Sybil Fernando and others 1997 (3) 

SLR 1) and Dulfer Umma v U.D.C., Matale 1939 (40) NLR. 474 stated that an application cannot 

be dismissed on a mere technicality taken up by the respondents. 

It is not disputed that the aforementioned decisions have referred to technicalities and had 

stated that merely based on a technical objection a party should not be deprived of his case 

being heard by the Court. 

Going by cases of Samantha Niroshana v Senarath Abeyruwan (S.C. (Spl.) L.A. No. 145/2006 – 

S.C. Minutes of 02.08.2007) and A.H.M. Fowzie v Vehicles Lanka (Pvt. Ltd. 2008 B.L.R. 127, I 

am quite mindful of the fact that mere technicalities should not be thrown in the way of the 

administration of justice and accordingly I am in respectful agreement with the observations 

made by Bonser, C.J., in Wickramatillake v Marikar 2 NLR 9 referring to Jessel, M.R. in Re 

Chenwell (8ch. D 2506) thus; 

“It is not the duty of a Judge to throw technical difficulties in the way of the 

administration of justice, but when he sees that he is prevented receiving material or 

available evidence merely because of a technical objection, he ought to remove the 

technical objection out of the way upon proper terms as to costs and otherwise.” 

“It is also of importance to bear in mind that the procedure laid down by way of Rules, made 

under and in terms of the provisions of the Constitution, cannot be easily disregarded. Such 

Rules have been made with purpose and that purpose is to ensure the smooth functioning of 

the legal machinery through the accepted procedural guidelines. In such circumstances, when 

there are mandatory rules that should be followed and objections raised on non-compliance 

with such Rules such objections, cannot be taken as mere technical objections. 

When such objections are considered favourably, it is not that a Judge would use the Rules as 

a juggernaut car which throws the petitioner out and then runs over him leaving him maimed 

and broken on the road.” (Per Abraham C.J., in Dulfer Umma v U.D.C., Matale (supra)).  

As correctly pointed out by Dr Amerasinghe, J. in Fernando v Sybil Fernando and others 

(supra), ‘Judges, do not blindly devote themselves to procedures or ruthlessly sacrifice 

litigants to technicalities, although parties on the road to justice may choose to act recklessly’. 

 

Thus, I do not agree with the submission of the learned counsel for the respondent, to 

consider both preliminary objections and dismiss this appeal in limine. An appeal should be 

decided on merit and not on technical reasons.  

 

Briefly, the facts of the case are as follows; 

 

The appellant is the registered owner of the vehicle bearing No. WP KD 9832 and the vehicle 

had been brought under police custody on 21.11.2012 together with 1st to 5th accused in the 

High Court for the alleged offence of possession and trafficking of 4 kg and 330 g of cannabis. 

This is an offence punishable under section 54 a (d) of the Poisons, Opium, and Dangerous 

Drugs (amended) Ordinance.  
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On 09.08.2017 the 1st to 5th accused were indicted before the Provincial High Court of 

Monaragala and on 27.11.2017, the accused had pleaded guilty for all charges before the 

learned High Court Judge of Monaragala.  

 

The Provincial High Court of Monaragala, upon the plea of guilt and conviction, had not made 

any order relating to the confiscation of the vehicle. The case record has also been sent back 

to the relevant Magistrate’s Court. The appellant in the present action who was not privy to 

the original case, by way of a motion dated 21.05.2018 had sought necessary orders for the 

formal release of the vehicle, which had been initially released to the appellant on a bond, on 

04.12.2018. Thereafter, an inquiry had been held regarding the said vehicle.  

 

Learned Counsel for the appellant stated that at the aforesaid inquiry, the appellant had 

explained the measures and precautions that he had taken to prevent his vehicle from being 

used for any illegal purpose as follows;  

(i) The appellant had entered into an agreement with Ashan Enterprises;  

 

(ii)  had informed the officers of Ashan Enterprises to refrain from re-renting the vehicle 

and not to use the same for illegal activities;  

 

(iii)  visited Ashan Enterprises twice to check on the said vehicle after he had rented the 

said vehicle within one month;  

 

(iv) had an oral agreement and understanding between the petitioner and Ashan 

Enterprises to the effect that the vehicle should not be used for any illegal purpose. 

The appellant had taken all precautions to prevent the use of the vehicle for the commission 

of the offence. The vehicle had been used for the commission of the offence, without the 

knowledge of the appellant.  

The appellant had called the Manager of the Meegoda Branch of Ashan Enterprises, the 

company by which the vehicle had been rented, to give evidence: -  

He had given evidence and said inter alia; 

(a) That the vehicle has been rented from the appellant;  
 

(b) there was an agreement between the appellant and Ashan Enterprises for the renting 
of the vehicle;  
 

(c) that one Kelum Darshana (the 5th accused) was a sales representative of the said 
company;  
 

(d) that when the company releases a vehicle to a Sales Representatives it is given under 
a Written and Oral Agreement. He could not present the same as the office has been 
shifted.  
 

(e) Generally, sales representatives visit the office once in two or three days; 
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(f) there are Area Managers and they supervise the use of the vehicle;  

 
(g) the company inquires and supervises about the vehicles given to sales 

representatives.  

He gave evidence confirming that in the said document the agreement between the sales -

representative and the company contained a clause that stated that the vehicle cannot be 

used for any other purpose other than for official use. This evidence has not been challenged 

in the cross-examination. Even though there is neither evidence in the original trial nor even 

in the indictment that the vehicle was made use of for the commission of the offence from 

the mitigation made after a plea of guilt, it was revealed that the alleged offence has been 

committed while the vehicle was being made use for a private purpose.   

The learned State Counsel had questioned the said witness agitating that such document had 

not been produced. It was argued that the submission of the said document cannot be 

construed as a burden placed on the petitioner-appellant as the same was not within his 

control. 

This witness who was the manager of the Meegoda Branch of Ashan Enterprises when this 

case was tried had not been the manager of the branch at the time of the incident. It is clear 

that for the said reason this witness had no personal knowledge about the incident. The 

petitioner-appellant had served the summons on the Managing Director of Ashan Enterprises 

and with a letter of authority, the said witness had given evidence on this matter which was 

beyond his control. On perusal of the document marked as 'X3' too, it is confirmed that he 

has given evidence on behalf of Ashan Enterprises relating to precautions that have been 

taken on behalf of the company to ensure that such illegal activities are not done. 

The other witness, G. M. Lakmal; an officer from the Hambegamuwa Police who conducted 

the raid had given evidence and stated that Kankanamge Don Kelum Darshana (5th accused) 

had given a statement to the police saying that he was working for Ashan Enterprises.  

The respondents had not adduced any evidence at the inquiry. Because nothing was 

mentioned in the charges for which the original accused pleaded concerning the offence 

about the vehicle.  

It is important to note that as there was no trial, no evidence against the petitioner, no 

evidence at the inquiry and no evidence has been presented by the state to that effect. 

The vehicle could not have been confiscated under the provisions of Section 79(1) of the 

Poisons, Opium, and dangerous Drugs Ordinance. The section reads as follows: -  

(1) where any person is convicted of an offence against this ordinance or any regulation 

made thereunder the court shall order that all or any article in respect of which 

offence was committed and any boat, vessel, vehicle, aircraft or airborne craft or 

equipment which has been used for the conveyance of such article shall, because of 

such conviction, be forfeited to the state.  
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Even though the aforesaid section states “shall be forfeited” the same has to be considered 

as “liable to be forfeited.” In the judgement of the Manawadu vs AG 1987 (2) SLR 30, 

Sarvananda J held that,  

"Having regard to the inequitable consequences that flow from treating the words 

'shall by reason of such conviction be forfeited to the State' as mandatory, I am 

inclined to hold, as the House of Lords did in A. G. vs Parsons -(1956) AC 421 that 

"forfeited" meant "liable to be forfeited." and thus avoid the injustice that would flow 

on the construction that forfeiture of the vehicle is automatic on the conviction of 

the accused."  

Therefore, it was argued by the learned counsel for the appellant that even for the 

consideration for the forfeiture, the prerequisite is that the vehicle should have been used for 

the conveyance of the article. It is submitted that no such evidence had come forth in this 

inquiry or at the trial. It was further argued that one has to assume the facts aforementioned 

as reasons for the absence of an order relating to the vehicle given by the Judge who accepted 

the plea, passed the sentence on the accused and even went on to resend the case record 

back to the relevant Magistrate’s Court.  

Thus, whatever the onus may be on the owner to establish before an inquiry relating to the 

confiscation of the vehicle it is incumbent upon the state to establish and for the Court to be 

satisfied that the vehicle has been used for the commission of the offence and that burden 

can never be shifted to the claimant nor can be presumed to have been established merely 

as the vehicle has been listed as production on the back of the indictment. 

After the inquiry was held about the said vehicle, the learned Provincial High Court Judge by 

the judgment dated 24.04.2020 had confiscated the vehicle. The learned High Court Judge of 

the Provincial High Court of Monaragala has come to the following findings by his judgment 

dated 24.04.2020.  

It says that the agreement between the registered owner and Ashan Enterprises was only to 

rent the vehicle based on the monthly rent and it didn't provide for the situation where the 

vehicle was being used for any illegal purpose.  

"වර්තමාන නඩුවවහි ඉදිරිපත් වූ සාක්ෂි සමස්ථව සැලකිල්ලට ගැනීවේදී වපනී යන්වන් ඉහත කී 

වමෝටර් රථවේ ලියාපදිිංචි හිමිකරe, තම වාහනය අශාන් එන්ටර්ප්‍රයිසසස ්ආයතනය වවත කුලී 

පදනම මත ලබා දී එමගින් ලැවබන මාසික කුලිය පිළිබදව පමණක් සැලකිලිමත් වවමින් එකී 

ආයතනය සමග ගිවිසුේ ගතව තිබූ බවයිස.” 

In the said judgement the learned High Court Judge has explained that the owner of the 

vehicle has given evidence saying that he had an oral agreement between the aforesaid Ashan 

Enterprise, not to use the vehicle for any illegal purpose. But he has failed to prove that with 

whom he had made that oral agreement.  

"තවද ඉහත කී වමෝටර් රථය නීති විවරෝධි කටයුතුවලට වනොවයදවන වලස හා වතවන 

පාර්ශවයකට බද්දකට යටත් වනොකරන වලසට අශාන් එන්ටර්ප්‍රයිසසස ්ආයතනයට උපවදස් 

වදනු ලැබූ බවට වාහනවේ ලියාපදිිංචි අයිසතිකරු වාචිකව වමම අධිකරණයට සාක්‍ෂි වදනු 

ලැබූවත්, එවන් උපවදස් හා වකොන්වද්සි අශාන් එන්ටර්ප්‍රයිසසස ් ආයතනවේ කවරකු සමග 
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ඇතිකර ගත්වත් ද යන්න ලියා පදිිංචි අයිසතිකරු සාක්‍ෂි වදමින් අණාවරණය කිරීමට අවපොවහොසත් 

වී ඇත.” 

The learned High Court Judge says that the owner of the vehicle has failed to take precautions 

to prevent the use of the vehicle for the commission of the offence.  

"වර්තමාන විමසීවේ දී සාක්‍ෂි දුන් ලියාපදිිංචි අයිසතිකරු එවන් සුපරීක්ෂාවකින් සිය වාහනය 

පාවිචිචි කල බවක් වමම අධිකරණයට වනොවපවනන අතර ඔහු සිය වාහනය නීති විවරෝධී 

ප්‍රවාහනයකට වතවන පාර්ශවයක් විසින් වයොමු කර ගැනීම වැළැක්වීමට, අවම වකවසේ වවතත් 

කිසියේම වහෝ උත්සාහයක් වගන තිවබන. බවක් වපවනන්නට වනොමැති බැවින්.......”  

The learned Judge had completely misdirected himself and explained that it cannot be 

accepted that the vehicle has been used for the commission of the offence by the accused, 

without the owner's knowledge. 

"ලියාපදිිංචි අයිසතිකරු සිය වාහනවේ සන්තකය කුලී පදනමින් අශාන් එන්ටර්ප්‍රයිසසස ්

ආයතනවේ භාරයට පත් කරනු ලැබූ ආකාරය සැලකිල්ලට ගත්විට නඩුවේ චූදිතයන් විසින් සිදු 

කරන ලැබූ නීති විවරෝධී ද්‍රවය ප්‍රවාහනය පිළිබදව ලියාපදිිංචි අයිසතිකරු විසින් වනොදැන සිටි බවට 

ලියාපදිිංචි අයිසතිකරු වමම අධිකරණවේ වදවන විමසීවේ දී සාක්‍ෂි වදමින් පැවසූ කරුණු දැක්වීම 

පිළිගත වනොහැක."  

There was no evidence to establish that the vehicle has been used for the commission of the 

offence. It is the established law that in a criminal case the burden of proof lies with the 

prosecution and it should be proved beyond a reasonable doubt.  

All 5 accused were arrested for the alleged offence of possession and trafficking 4kg and 330g 

of cannabis, by Habbegamuwa police and indicted before the Provincial High Court of 

Monaragala. In the Indictment dated 09.08.2017, the prosecution has not even referred to 

the vehicle in question.  

It is evident that neither a trial was conducted nor any evidence was led that the vehicle was 

used for the commission of offence before the Provincial High Court of Monaragala either at 

the original trial or at the vehicle inquiry.  The learned High Court Judge has not mentioned in 

his original judgment dated 27.11.2017, that the said vehicle bearing No. WP KD 9832 has 

been used for the said commission of the offence. There was no evidence presented at the 

inquiry which led to the impugned judgment that the vehicle in question was used for the 

crime concerned.  

In case No. CA PHC APN 119/14, P.R.Walgama J, held that, 

"The process of confiscation of a vehicle involved in the commission of an offence 

particularly under Forest Ordinance, Exercise Ordinance, Cruelty to the Animals Act 

and Poison, Opium and Dangerous Act, it is deemed that the same principle is 

applicable in respect of the third party to it. The Registered owner who did not have 

any involvement for the commission of the offence."   

"The cardinal principle distilled in respect of the above proposition is in the case of Manawadu 

vs. Attorney General 1987 (2) SLR 30 which has stated thus;  

"If the owner of the lorry who is not a party to the case he is entitled to be heard on 

the forfeiture of the lorry. If he satisfies the Court, that the accused committed the 
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offence without his knowledge or participation, his lorry will not be liable to 

forfeiture" 

It is evident that the learned High Court Judge had initially summarized the evidence and 

evaluated the agreement marked X2. The learned High Court Judge has commented that X2 

does not contain any clause prohibiting the vehicle from being used for illegal activity or being 

"released" to a third party. He further states that the matters referred to as being verbally 

agreed by the appellant have not even been confirmed by naming the party to whom the 

appellant spoke to confirm such verbal agreement.  

Referring to the manager's evidence the learned High Court Judge comments that there was 

no written agreement between parties to not have the vehicle used for any illegal purpose or 

re-leasing, but was merely limited only to verbal utterances. He further states that it is clear 

that the registered owner had entered into an agreement, only taking into account the 

monthly rental and had not been at all vigilant in preventing the vehicle from being used by a 

third party for illegal purposes, and had thus quite negligently entered into the agreement.  

The appellant had not even maintained a minimum attempt or any attempt whatsoever to 

ensure his vehicle was not used for illegal transport and had dismissed the application of the 

appellant. It is against this impugned order that the appellant has come before this court by 

way of an appeal. The petition of appeal was filed on 08.06.2020. 

This was by way of an agreement dated 22.10.2012, one month before cannabis was found 

in his vehicle. The appellant got to know about a month afterwards, that his car was in police 

custody and that he had to submit the registration certificate to prove ownership. 

Importantly, within the evidence-in-chief itself, he stated that he was made aware that his 

car had been taken into custody by the police since it had been used in the act of transporting 

cannabis by the 5th accused and several others.  

That evidence is as follows; 

 ප්‍ර : එතවකොට වපොලිස් නිලධාරියාවගන් ඇහුවද වේ වගනල්ලා තිවයන්වන වහේතුව වමොකක්ද 

කියලා? 

 උ : ගිංජා ප්‍රවාහනය කළා කියලා කිjzfjz. 

 ප්‍ර : එතවකොට ඊට අමතරව කවුද ගිංජා ප්‍රවාහනය කරලා තිවයන්වන කියලා වසොයලා 

බැලුවද? 

 උ : වපොලීසිවයන් මට දැනුේ දුන්වන් කැලුේ දර්ශන සමඟ තවත් පුද්ගලයිසන් කිහිප වදවනක් 

වාහනවේ සිටියා කියලා.  

In his evidence, the appellant claimed inter alia that:  

Once the vehicle was handed over to the said company, he had visited the company twice 

and had been told that the vehicle had been handed over to one Kelum Dharshana who was 

a sales representative working for the said company. The said Kelum Dharshana was the fifth 

accused in the main case. In evidence-in-chief itself, the appellant had been asked as to what 

precautions he took to prevent this vehicle from being used for an offence.  

To this question he had given two explanations as to the answer; 
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“Firstly, that he visited the company renting the vehicle several times to see what was 

happening.”  

“Secondly, that he specifically instructed the company verbally that the vehicle could 

not be used for any unlawful activity.” 

In cross-examination, the appellant had admitted that he was instructed by officers of the 

company that the vehicle would only be used for operations related to company work, and 

not for the private use of the 05th accused. He even said that he made enquiries about the 5th 

accused and found that he was a person who resided in Kalutara. The appellant stated that 

he did not specifically check whether the agreement signed with the company contained the 

clause regarding the fact that the vehicle would not be used for any unlawful activity, and 

that the said agreement did not contain a clause stating the same.  

However, he stated that he obtained a verbal promise from the company representatives that 

the vehicle would not be used for any unlawful activity. He further stated that he questioned 

the company on why the agreement did not contain the said clause and the company 

representative told him that this agreement could not be changed to include such clauses. He 

admitted that the agreement did not state the exact reason for which the vehicle would be 

used and also admitted that the agreement did not carry a clause stating that the vehicle 

could not be used for any illegal purpose. 

He also stated that even though he claimed to have called the company to verify the purpose 

for which the vehicle would have been used, he had no means of confirming the same and he 

admitted that the onus was on him to prove the same. He stated that he first got to know 

that the vehicle was used for the transportation of cannabis from the police and that he 

should have been more vigilant on how his vehicle was being used. 

He also admitted that he had not taken any legal action against the said Ashan Enterprises at 

the time of giving evidence. The above issues had been clarified during the re-examination of 

the appellant. Thereafter, the appellant had called another witness to corroborate and 

confirm his evidence. This witness is one Chulanga Dinesh Perera, the manager of Ashan 

Enterprises.  

This witness stated that he was a manager of "Ashan Enterprises", a firm dealing in industrial 

cleaning products, since 2006. He reported for work in the Meegoda branch where the 5th 

accused worked in 2016. The products were distributed by sales representatives of whom the 

5th accused was one. The sales representatives were provided vehicle facilities by the 

company itself by supplying them with vehicles taken on rent by the company. The vehicle in 

question had been rented by the company in 2012. The agreement had been signed by the 

previous manager and this witness had no knowledge of the agreement.  

In cross-examination, he was questioned as to whether the appellant approached the 

company as claimed by the appellant and he stated that he had no knowledge of those 

incidents because he was not serving in the company at that time. He stated further that he 

had no knowledge as to whether the appellant indeed looked into the purposes for which his 

car was used and also does not have any acquaintance with the appellant, the main reason 

being that he had come into service at the said Meegoda branch in 2016, well after the 

incident took place in 2012.  
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Importantly he stated that yet another agreement was signed between the company and the 

relevant sales representative when the vehicles were given to him. When questioned about 

where the relevant agreement was, for this particular transaction he stated that he could not 

bring it, since it had now been misplaced. He stated further that he can look for this 

agreement and submit it to court. However, the appellant had not made an application to 

facilitate the same. In evidence, he was made to read the agreement between the company 

and himself (the appellant) and admitted that the said agreement did not mention that the 

impugned vehicle would not be used for any illegal purpose or private purpose.  

He stated that such information is not usually entered in an agreement but is usually stated 

verbally to the person renting the vehicle. However, referring to the second agreement 

between the company and the sales representatives which was never produced in the case, 

he stated that there was a provision that the vehicle will not be used for private purposes but 

only for official purposes. He also stated that the area managers of the company are vigilant 

about whether the vehicles given to the sales representatives are used for private purposes 

or illegal purposes and that the vehicles should only be used for official purposes.  He however 

stated that he had no knowledge on whether such action was taken regarding this particular 

vehicle in this particular instance.  

Finally, he admitted that he did not know that either the registered owner or the company, 

had looked into the purposes for which this specific vehicle was used. In re-examination, he 

said that the company looked into the purpose for which all vehicles rented by the company 

are used, most of the time. The appellant has thereafter called another police witness to 

confirm the fact that the fifth accused had given a statement to the police and that the fifth 

accused has worked as an employee of the said Ashan Enterprises. The evidence of this 

witness has not been cross-examined and does not add any value to the version of the 

appellant or the version of the prosecution.  

Thereafter, oral submissions had been made and the matter was fixed for order. The order 

was dated 24.04.2020 and delivered on 26th May 2020. The learned High Court Judge had 

initially summarized the evidence. Thereafter, the learned High Court Judge has evaluated the 

agreement marked X2. The High Court Judge has commented that X2 did not contain any 

clause prohibiting the vehicle from being used for illegal activity or being "released" to a third 

party.  

The grounds of appeal have not been specifically stated at any point by the appellant. There 

are several matters urged generally, and for want of a better procedure, they are replied 

under the same headings urged by the appellant.  Although not referred to as "grounds of 

appeal", the appellant has mentioned the following matters at the conclusion of the 

appellant's submissions.  

(i.) Confiscating the vehicle is bad in law where there is no charge or evidence to 

show that the vehicle has been used for the commission of the offence.  

(ii.) Confiscating the vehicle is bad in law and fact when there is no evidence that the 

appellant had knowledge of the crime and/or when the appellant had given 

reasonable and acceptable explanations as to the fact that he did not have any 

knowledge about this culpable act. 
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(iii.) The learned Provincial High Court Judge erred in law and fact to confiscate the 

vehicle when he had given acceptable evidence to prove that he had taken all 

pragmatic precautions to prevent the commission of the offence using the 

vehicle.  

(iv.) Confiscating the vehicle is not reasonable, just and equitable and it is a violation 

of his human rights.  

The respondent proceeded to reply to the said four matters highlighted from (i) to (iv) above, 

and says that confiscating the vehicle is bad in law where there is no charge or evidence to 

show that the vehicle has been used for the commission of the offence. The respondent states 

that there is prima-facia material to show that the vehicle was taken into custody in 

connection with the offence. It is apparent that during investigations the impugned vehicle 

was taken into custody by police regarding this offence,  

The impugned vehicle is listed as a production at the back of the Indictment to which the 5th 

accused pleaded. The appellant has not at any point contested this position during evidence 

at the vehicle inquiry in the High Court. The appellant has not provided an explanation of how 

his vehicle suddenly went missing after it was rented to the company in question until a 

vehicle inquiry was initiated at the High Court by the appellant himself in a case of possession 

and trafficking of cannabis. 

The appellant denies having any knowledge that the impugned vehicle was used for the 

commission of the offence and says that confiscating the vehicle is bad in law and fact when 

there is no evidence that the appellant had knowledge of the crime and he has given 

reasonable and acceptable explanations as to the fact that he did not have any knowledge 

about this culpable act.  

It is important to note that confiscating the vehicle is entirely in keeping with the legislation 

and fact, as that legislature verily intended. The legislation states that the Court shall order 

forfeiture. Section 79 (as amended) of the Poisons, Opium, and Dangerous Drugs Ordinance, 

No. 13 of 1984 states that:  

"Where any person is convicted of an offence against this Ordinance or any regulation 

made thereunder the court shall order that all or any articles in respect of which the 

offence was committed and any boat, vessel, vehicle, aircraft or airborne craft or 

equipment which has been used for the conveyance of such article shall, by reason of 

such conviction, be forfeited to the State"  

Therefore, it is contended that irrespective of an inquiry, the position of the law on forfeiture 

was automatic. The instant law does not even provide for the holding of an inquiry as opposed 

to, for example, the Forest Ordinance which provides for an application being made by a 3rd  

party for a vehicle. This then was the prima-facia express intent of the legislature until the 

case of "Manawadu vs AG 1987 [2] SLR 3O" was decided.   

It was argued by the learned counsel for the respondent that, there is no onus in law for the 

prosecution to prove that the owner had sufficient knowledge of the use of his vehicle in the 

crime at a vehicle inquiry. It is only incumbent on the appellant, that too at his option, for 

want of redeeming the vehicle, to prove, albeit to the "balance of probability", that he had 

no knowledge that his vehicle had been used to commit the offence in question. This 
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opportunity had been provided to a claimant of a vehicle consequent to the “Manawadu" 

case in furtherance of justice and fair play, and cannot by any means be usurped and twisted 

by the claimant as a requisite to be fulfilled by the prosecution.  

It is submitted, that perhaps for this very same reason, there exists no case law whatsoever, 

regarding the confiscation of vehicles in matters of this nature, where it has been decided, 

that indeed the prosecution has to establish the knowledge on the part of the vehicle owner 

(claimant) regarding his vehicle being used for an offence. In most matters, knowledge is 

apparent prima-facia, and a suggestion to the contrary is preposterous and bad in law as 

evidenced in a plethora of cases.  

In the case of W. Jalathge Surasena VS. O.I.C. Hikkaduwa and 3 others [CA (PHC) APN 

100/2014], It was held that "a mere denial by the Registered Owner of the fact that he did 

not know of the alleged commission is not sufficient as per the principle laid down in the line 

of authorities regarding the confiscation of a vehicle which had been used for a commission 

of an offence for an unauthorized purpose ..."  

In A.H. Mithrasena Vs OIC, Hettipola and Others [CA (PHC)/15/2016] decided on 20.10.2020, 

it was held; "Therefore, I do not think that a vehicle owner, under the present law, can submit 

the absence of knowledge as a ground to avoid a vehicle confiscation, anymore."  

Therefore, the learned counsel for respondent says that the position taken with regard to 

"knowledge" by the appellant, does not "hold water" in the instant case.  

Learned counsel for the appellant argued that the learned Provincial High Court Judge erred 

in law and fact to confiscate the vehicle when the appellant had given acceptable evidence to 

prove that he has taken all pragmatic precautions to prevent the commission of the offence 

using the vehicle. The respondent says that the appellant had not given any "acceptable" 

evidence as contended by the appellant in the ground above. In furtherance of the above, it 

is also contended that the appellant had made mere unconfirmed and uncorroborated 

statements during his evidence.  

The appellant said that he had visited the company twice and he had specifically instructed 

the company verbally, that the vehicle should not be used for any unlawful activity. He had 

visited the company several times after renting the vehicle. In cross-examination, the 

appellant stated that the vehicle could only be used for the operations of the company work 

and not for the private use of the 5th accused. He made an inquiry of the 5th accused and 

found out that he was residing in Kalutara, the appellant had obtained a verbal promise from 

the company representatives that the vehicle would not be used for any unlawful activity. 

Interestingly, he questioned the company as to why the said clause was not included in the 

agreement and the company representatives had told that the agreement could not be 

changed to include such clauses.  

The respondent says that even though he contends the points above as true, in his evidence-

in-chief and cross-examination the appellant had not brought the two witnesses who could 

have confirmed this evidence to the best standards of the law, namely the 5th accused and 

the company representative, who made the alleged representations to the appellant. Instead, 

he merely seeks to 'blindfold" this Court into fully accepting his solitary statements in 

evidence, even as they stood contested by the prosecution during the inquiry itself. In the 
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analysis of evidence, the appellant has placed confidence in the whimsical verbal evidence of 

the present manager of the company, who testified about the existence of a second contract 

between the company in question and the 5th accused. However, no copy of this contract has 

been submitted to Court, reducing the evidentiary value of the appellant's case even further.  

Thus, it was further argued by the learned counsel for the respondent that the appellant had 

not put forward the best evidence to support his case. Therefore, he cannot now be heard to 

say that he has given "acceptable evidence" at the vehicle inquiry. He has failed to surmount 

even the low evidentiary threshold of "beyond reasonable doubt".  

In Piyadasa Prathapasinghe vs Attorney General & Others [CA(PHC) 154/2013] it was held that 

the failure to call a material witness was to be fatal to the case of the Claimant:  

"The appellant has failed to call Laksman as a witness. Apart from the appellant, 

Lakshman would have been the best person to testify about the precautions the 

appellant had taken. The burden is on the appellant to satisfy Court that he took all 

necessary precautions to prevent the commission of the offence, I am of the 

considered view that the learned High Court Judge was correct when he found that 

the appellant had failed to prove to the satisfaction of the Court that he took 

necessary precautions to prevent the commission of the offence on the day in 

question and that the order of the learned Magistrate should be affirmed."  

In Segu Alawdeen Mohamadu Riyaldeen vs Attorney General & Others [CA (PHC) 164/ 2026], 

it was decided that the failure to call the driver and another material corroborating witness 

has been fatal to the application of the claimant.  

Learned counsel for the respondent citing the above-mentioned authority says that in this 

instance the appellant has failed to call the driver to give evidence, although the appellant 

later said that his wife inspected the vehicle, he had failed to call the wife on his behalf to 

establish the same. The appellant has failed to discharge the burden cast upon him. 

Therefore, by not placing the best evidence to confirm and corroborate his version, the 

appellant has virtually initiated the "self-destruction" of his case.  

It was argued by the learned counsel for the respondent that the appellant has not discharged 

his burden of proving either “lack of knowledge of the offence” or that “he indeed took 

necessary precautions to prevent his vehicle being used for an illegal act” by the 5th accused. 

The failure of the appellant to discharge this burden has to be analysed considering the 

following authorities.   

In A.H. Mithrasena Vs OIC - Police Station, Hettipola CA/PHC/15/2016, it was held that mere 

instructions given to a tractor driver not to use the vehicle for unlawful activities was deemed 

insufficient by the Court of Appeal, as having fulfilled the above burden.  

It was held in Mary Matilda Silva Vs P.H. De Silva CA /PHC/86/97, that giving "mere 

instructions" is not sufficient to discharge the said burden.  

The same position is taken up in Saman Kumara and another Vs Attorney General 

CA/PHC/157/12, where it was held that mere verbal instructions were not sufficient to 

discharge the burden.  
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Similarly, in the case of Kottasha Arachchige Uhhayaweera Vs Range Forest Officer and Others 

CA/PHC/95/2012, decided on 04.09.2018 it was held that: "Accordingly, it is amply clear that 

simply telling the driver is insufficient to discharge the burden cast on the vehicle owner by 

law."  

Therefore, the respondent says that when this evidence is considered in totality, it may be 

seen that the appellant has failed abjectly and thoroughly, to submit any sort of acceptable 

evidence by any forum by any standards and that the appellant falls well short of taking all 

"pragmatic precautions to prevent the commission of the offence using the vehicle".  

The next argument of the appellant is that confiscating the vehicle is not reasonable, just and 

equitable and is a violation of his rights. Every individual should be equal before and under 

the law and has the right to the equal protection and equal benefit of the law. It should be 

ensured that everyone has access to equal justice. Equity holds that "Equity will not suffer a 

wrong to be without a remedy. “When seeking equitable relief, the one who had been 

wronged has the stronger hand and that it is the one who has the stronger hand that has the 

capacity to ask for a legal remedy. The said equitable maxim goes hand in hand with the Latin 

legal maxim, ubi jus ibi renzedium, which reads that "where there is a right there must be a 

remedy."  

Equity also holds that "Equity delights to do justice and not by halves. “Where a court is 

presented with a good claim to equitable relief, and it is clear that the appellant has suffered 

monetary damage, the court of equity has jurisdiction to render legal relief. Equity further 

holds that "Equity does not require an idle gesture. “It will therefore not compel a court to do 

a vain and useless thing.” It was argued by the learned counsel for the appellant that the 

accused has pleaded guilty and has been imposed with a sentence and a fine of Rs. 25,000/- 

in respect of the 1st charge and a sentence of 2 years’ simple imprisonment, suspended for 

ten years in respect of the 2nd charge. In these circumstances where the perpetrator of the 

offence had already been charged for the offence committed by him, there are no just and 

equitable grounds to confiscate the vehicle belonging to the appellant when the appellant 

himself has not been a party to the offence in question and is neither bound by a relationship 

of proximity to the accused and had only rented the vehicle to a third party. There is no equity 

nor is it just to deprive the appellant of a vehicle worth approximately Rs. 1,300,000/- where 

the persons convicted of the crime is deprived of Rs. 25,000/- each totalling Rs. 125,000/-.   

In the case of Orient Financial Services Corporation Ltd Vs RFO, Ampara and another 2011 (1) 

SLR 86, the registered owner of a vehicle was convicted on his plea for transporting timber 

without a permit. At the inquiry-whether the vehicle should be confiscated or not, the 

absolute owner (finance company) from whom the registered owner obtained financial 

assistance to purchase the vehicle gave evidence and claimed the vehicle. After inquiry, the 

Magistrate made an order to confiscate the vehicle. The revision application filed by the 

Finance Company in the High Court was dismissed. The petitioner sought to revise the said 

judgment. 

It was held that the owner envisaged in the law cannot be the 'absolute owner' (Finance 

Company). The absolute owner has no control over the use of the vehicle except to retake 

the possession of the vehicle for non-payment of instalments. No injustice would be caused 
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to the Finance Company as they could recover the amount, they spent for the registered 

owner by way of an action in the District Court based on a violation of the lease agreement. 

The learned counsel for the respondent submits that the legislature intended that the vehicles 

used for illegal offences (where allowed by statute) should be necessarily confiscated. The 

reasons are merely not to punish, but to ensure that these vehicles are not used again to 

commit such offences and also to serve as a deterrence to other vehicle holders who may be 

tempted to enter into bad and improper contracts, merely considering the monetary benefits 

and disregarding the precautions they need to take by law and by judicial precedent. 

Therefore, it is trite law that in many cases vehicles are confiscated because it is clearly the 

intention of the legislature and therefore, it is well reasonable that it is an act done to prevent 

the furtherance of such offences committed by vehicle owners who are not vigilant about the 

process of the law. Thus, it is contended that it was and is the intention of the legislature, 

especially in the Poisons, Opium, and Dangerous Drugs Ordinance, that the vehicle should 

necessarily be confiscated.  

However, going by Manawadu vs AG (supra), the learned counsel for the respondent says that 

even if the appellant makes use of the opportunity to show that he either had no knowledge 

of the crime or that he had taken all reasonable precautions, the appellant in the instant case 

had failed to do so. It is the intention of the legislature and specific law. It cannot be said that 

this is a violation of his rights and property right. Such matters are taken into consideration 

by the respective authorities and forums.  

Therefore, the argument tendered by the appellant, that this is not a just and equitable 

punishment fails when one considers the fact that the accused in this case have been 

subjected to both fine and a suspended sentence, whilst the appellant has been subjected 

only to the forfeiture of the vehicle used for the conveyance of the illegal substance. The 

respondent further says that forfeiture of property has been a standard standalone practice 

throughout many jurisdictions around the world and that it is not necessarily connected to 

the offender and the punishment received by such an offender. 

In the case of Oriental Finance Services Corporation Limited. vs. Range Forest Officer and 

Another 2011 (1) SLR- 86 it was held thus:  

“It is therefore seen under the existing law a vehicle transporting timber cannot be 

confiscated if the owner of the vehicle on a balance of probability establishes one of the 

following things;  

(i) That he has taken all precautions to prevent the use of the vehicle for the commission 

of the offence;  

 

(ii) That the vehicle has been used for the commission of the offence without his 

knowledge.” 

It is clear according to several decisions referred to above, an order for confiscation cannot 

be made if the owner establishes one of two matters. Firstly, that he has taken all precautions 

to prevent the use of the vehicle for the commission of the offence. Secondly, that the vehicle 

has been used for the commission of the offence without his knowledge. Confiscating the 
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vehicle is bad in law when the appellant has given reasonable and acceptable explanations as 

to that he did not have any knowledge about this culpable act.   

Section 103 of the Evidence Ordinance stipulates that "the burden of proof as to any particular 

fact lies on that person who wishes the court to believe in its existence unless it is provided 

by any law that the proof of the fact shall lie on any particular person". In terms of Section 

103, since the respondent has raised issues disputing that the appellant knew this culpable 

act, the respondent who wishes the court to believe the existence of that fact hence the 

burden of proof lies on the respondent to prove that the appellant had the knowledge that 

the vehicle had been used for the commission of the offence with his knowledge. The learned 

State Counsel has not even suggested to any of the witnesses, at the inquiry that the 

commission of the crime was committed with the knowledge of the appellant.  

The appellant stated giving evidence that he and the driver, Kelum Darshana who was the 5th 

accused of the original case are not acquainted and therefore he inquired about him because 

it came to his knowledge that the vehicle is going to be handed over to the said Kelum 

Dharshana. The police have not investigated whether the appellant had any connection or 

knowledge regarding the said allegation which was committed by the accused. The appellant 

was not indicted before the Provincial High Court of Monaragala about the said allegation or 

even for abatement.  

If the evidence of the appellant which had been led before the Provincial High Court was duly 

considered it would be apparent that the vehicle has been used for the commission of the 

offence without his knowledge.  

ප්‍ර : එතවකොට වමම නඩුවේ ඔබට විරුද්ධව වමොකක් හරි ව ෝදනාවක් තිවයනවාද? 

උ : නැහැ. 

ප්‍ර : ඔබට විරුද්ධව අනුබල දීවේ ව ෝදනාවක් තිවයනවාද? 

උ : නැහැ. 

ප්‍ර : එතවකොට වමවහම වරදක් වහෝ අපරාධයක් පිළිබදව දැනුමක් ඔබට තිබුන ද? 

උ : නැහැ. 

When the appellant was under cross examination there is not even a suggestion by the state 

that the crime was committed with the knowledge of the appellant. 

However, despite the same, the learned Trial Judge has by his judgement stated that "the 

appellant's evidence to that he had no knowledge about the substance being transported in 

the vehicle is unacceptable" without duly evaluating the said evidence led by the appellant.  

If a party has failed to suggest their position to any of the witnesses of their opponent, it goes 

uncontested. In Gunasiri and two others Vs Republic of Sri Lanka 2009 (1) SLR 39, Sisira De 

Abrew J held that,  

"The learned counsel who appeared for the defence did not suggest to the 

prosecution witnesses the alibi raised by the 3rd accused-appellant. What is the effect 

of such silence on the part of the counsel? In this connection, I would like to consider 

certain judicial decisions.” 
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In the case of Sarwan Singh vs. State of Punjab 2002 AIR SC iii at 3652 Indian Supreme Court 

held thus;  

"It is a rule of essential justice that whenever the opponent has declined to avail 

himself of the opportunity to put his case in cross-examination it must follow that the 

evidence tendered on that issue ought to be accepted."  

This judgment was cited with approval in Bobby Mathew vs. State of Karnataka 2004 Cr. LJ 

3003. 

“Applying the principles laid down in the above judicial decision may express the 

following view. Failure to suggest the defence of alibi to the prosecution witnesses 

who implicated the accused indicates that it was a false one.” 

The learned Trial Judge has not given reasons for the aforementioned finding in confiscating 

the vehicle and as submitted that the indirect finding of the learned Judge to the effect that 

the said crime was committed with the knowledge of the appellant, cannot stand in law and 

fact.  

The vehicle cannot be confiscated firstly; hence there was no evidence before Court to show 

that the vehicle was used for the commission of the offence, secondly; even if one was to 

assume that there was such evidence, as there was clear evidence to show the commission 

of the offence committed without the knowledge of the appellant. Thus, it is argued that 

there was no need for the appellant, according to law to establish a balance of probability to 

show that he took steps reasonably to prevent the commission of an offence using the vehicle.  

The monitoring of the vehicle for 24 hours on all 7 days after the renting out lies beyond the 

sphere of responsibility of the owner of the vehicle and also frequently inquiring about the 

vehicle which is lent on a rent basis is not practical. It is submitted while trying to define the 

law that no one should and can expect such control over a vehicle; in that event, it would 

become impossible for anyone to rent or lease a vehicle.  

It is not practical to rent a vehicle solely on the conditions of the vehicle owner due to the 

lack of bargaining power of the owner of the vehicle. In the instant case, the appellant had 

given evidence and had stated that the contract that was signed was a formal contract that 

was used by Ashan Enterprises. It is unfair to accept a person like the appellant who owns one 

Maruti Suzuki car to bargain with a company renting out many cars to get a contract tailor-

made.  

The evidence of the appellant to the same is as follows: -  

ප්‍ර : වරොෂාන් යේකිසි කුලී පදනමක් මත වාහනයක් ලබා වදනවා නේ ගිවිසුමක් අත්සන් කලාද? 

උ : ඔේ. 

ප්‍ර : වකෝ ඒ ගිවිසුම 

උ : අර ගිවිසුමට යටින් අත්සන් කරලා තිවයන්වන්. 

ප්‍ර : වරොෂාන් ඒ කියන්වන් වවනම ගිවිසුමක් හැදුවේ නැද්ද? 
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උ : නැහැ. එවහම ආයතනයක් වවනම ගිවිසුමක් භාර ගන්වන් නැහැ. එම ආයතනවේ ගිවිසුම 

පමණයිස. 

The learned counsel for the appellant says that the appellant has proved that, he has taken 

all necessary precautions to prevent the use of the vehicle for a crime on a balance of 

probability.  

ප්‍ර : මාස කීයක් ඒ ආයතනවේ වාහනය තිබුණ ද? 

උ : මාසයක් පමණ. 

ප්‍ර : ඒ මාසය පුරාවට ඔබ කීපාරක් ගියා ද වාහනය බලන්න? 

උ : වාහනය බාර දුන්න දවසට අමතරව වදපාරක් ගියා. 

It is clear that the appellant has done his best to check on the vehicle during the time period 

it was with Ashan Enterprises. 

When the manager of Ashan Enterprises was called in as the second witness he has testified 

that a vehicle is entrusted to an employee-sales representative subject to a certain 

agreement.  

The manager of Ashan Enterprises testified to the effect that the aforementioned agreement 

contains that no employee is allowed to utilize the vehicles of the enterprise for neither 

personal use nor illegal purposes and the learned Provincial High Court Judge has failed to 

consider this aspect.  

උ : නැහැ. අපි දැන් නිවයෝජිතට නැවත වාහනය ලබාවදනවාවන්. එතවකොට තමයිස ඒ වවේ 

ගිවිසුමක් අපි අත්සන් කරලා”, නිවයෝජිතයන්ට වවනම ගිවිසුමක් මගින් තමයිස වාහනය ලබා 

වදන්වන්.  

ප්‍ර : ඒ නිවයෝජිතයන්ට වදන ගිවිසුවේ තිවයනවද එවහම කරන්න බැහැ කියලා. 

උ : ඔේ. ආයතනයක අවලවි කටයුතු සදහා පමණයිස වාහනය වයොදා ගත යුත්වත්. කිසිම 

වපෞද්ගලික කටයුත්තක් සදහා වයොදා ගන්න බැහැ කියලා සදහන් කරලා තිවයනවා. 

The manager of Ashan Enterprises has testified that they checked the vehicle frequently 

through their employee-area managers.  

The learned High Court Judge has failed to consider all this evidence when he delivered his 

judgement. Therefore, it is erroneous in law and facts that the learned Trial Judge had 

delivered the judgement while failing to appreciate the evidence that had been adduced to 

establish that the appellant had taken all pragmatic precautions to prevent the use of the 

vehicle for the commission of the offence,  

It is my view that the learned Judge has arrived at his judgement without considering the 

evidence of the witnesses who gave evidence on behalf of the appellant.  

In the above circumstances, confiscating the vehicle is bad in law and fact when there is no 

evidence that the appellant had knowledge of the crime and when the appellant had given 

reasonable and acceptable explanations as to the fact that he did not have any knowledge 

about this culpable act. This court decides that the learned Provincial High Court Judge erred 

in law and fact in confiscating the vehicle when acceptable evidence had been before him to 
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prove that the appellant had taken all pragmatic precautions to prevent the commission of 

the offence using the vehicle.  

Therefore, it is my view that confiscating the vehicle bearing registration number WP KD-9832 

is not reasonable, just and equitable and it is a violation of his right.  

For the reasons set out above, I conclude that the learned High Court Judge had misdirected 

himself by failing to evaluate the said material in favour of the petitioner. I, therefore, decide 

to set aside the order by the High Court Judge of Monaragala, dated 24.04.2020, and released 

the said vehicle to the Petitioner. 

Appeal allowed. 

 

 

 

Judge of the Court of Appeal 

 

 

R. Gurusinghe J. 

    I agree. 

 

 

        Judge of the Court of Appeal 


